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Independent Auditors' Report 

New Orleans Aviation Board and the 
City Council of the City of New Orleans, Louisiana: 

We have audited the accompanying fmancial statements of the Louis Armstrong New Orleans International 
Airport (the Airport), a proprietary component unit of the City of New Orleans, as of December 31, 2010 
and 2009 for the years then ended, as listed in the foregoing table of contents. These fmancial statements 
are the responsibility of the Airport's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
fmancial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits m accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller Genera! of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fmancial statements are free of material 
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Airport's internal control over financial 
reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in die circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Airport's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the fmancial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the fmancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Louis Armstrong New Orleans International Airport as of December 31, 2010 and 
2009, and the changes in its fmancial position and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity 
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 24, 2011, 
on our consideration of the Airport's intemal conR-ol over financial reporting and our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of taws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance and the results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on the intemal control over 
fmancial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit. 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 16 be presented to supplement the basic fmancial statements. 
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of fmancial reporting for lacing the 
basic fmancial statements in an appropriate operation, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplemcntaiy information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
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methods of preparing the infonnation and comparing the information for consistency with management's 
responses to our inquiries, the basic fmancial statements, and other knowledge we obtained durmg our 
audit of the basic fumnciaJ statements. However, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance 
on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to eiqiress an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the basic fmancial statements taken as a 
whole. Supplemental schedules listed in the foregoing table of contents are presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The supplemental 
schedules are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying 
accounting and o^er records used to prepare the fmancial statements. The supplemental schedules I and 2 
have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic fmancial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directiy to the 
underl>'ing accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the fmancial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opmion, supplemental schedules 1 and 2 are fairly stated 
in all material respects, in relation to the basic fmancial statements taken as a whole. Schedule 3 has not 
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied m the audit of the basic fmancial statements and, 
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 

-g^i 

Metairie, Louisiana 
June 24,2011 

P&N 



LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 31.2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 

This narrative discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an mtroduction to the Louis Armstrong New 
Orleans International Airport's basic fmancial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2010 and 
2009, with selected comparative information for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008. The information 
presented here should be read in conjunction with the financial statements, footnotes, and supplementary 
mformation in this report. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

The Louis Armstrong New Orleans International Auport (the Airport) is structured as an enterprise fund. The 
financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. Therefore, revenues are recognized when 
earned and expenses are recognized v/hen incurred. Capital assets are capitalized and depreciated, except for 
land, over their useful lives. See the notes to the fmancial statements for a summary of the Auport's significant 
accounting policies. 

Following this Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) are the basic financial statements and 
supplemental schedules of the Airport. This information taken collectively is designed to provide readers with an 
understanding of the Airport's fmances. 

The balance sheets present information on all of the Airport's assets and liabilities, with the difference between 
the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of 
the Airport's financial position. 

The statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets present infonnation showing how the Airport's 
net assets changed during the fiscal year. AU changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event 
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are 
reported in these statements for some items that will result in cash flows in fiiture fiscal periods. 

The principal operating revenues of the Airport are from sources such as airlines, concessions, rental cars, and 
parking. Investment income, passenger facility charges, customer facility chaiges, federal grants, and other 
revenues not related to the operations of the Airport are nonoperating revenues. Operating expenses include the 
cost of airport and related facilities maintenance, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. 
Interest expense and financing costs are nonoperating expenses. 

The statements of cash flows relate to the flows of cash and cash equivalents. Consequently, only transactions 
that affect the Airport's cash accounts are recorded in these statements. A reconciliation is a part of these 
statements to assist in the underetanding of the difference between cash flows from operating activities and 
operating loss. 

Financial Highlights 

Enplaned passengers at the Airport for 2008 were up 5.9 percent when compared to the same period in 2007 
while total domestic enplanements on all U.S. scheduled carriers declined by 1.3 percent compared to the same 
period in 2007. Due to a strugglmg economy, enplanements in 2009 decreased 2.1 percent compared to 2008. 
However, the Airport fared better than the national trend. In 2010, total enplanements increased by 5.2% as 
compared to 2009 levels. 

3 (Continued) 



LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 

In November 2005, the Board approved a financial plan which was intended to provide a roadmap for how the 
Airport would manage its financial operations during the recovery from the impact of Hurricane Katrina. It 
included cash flow projections based on certain growth scenarios related to expenses, debt obligations, passenger 
grovrth projections, and nonairline revenues. The plan discussed meeting its operating needs by utilizing 
available cash balances, federal borrowings and grants, possible debt restructuring, and a working capital credit 
facility. The Board received over $10 million from the FEMA Community Disaster Loan Program. On August 
20, 2010, the Airport submitted to FEMA an application for loan cancellation, documenting the requirements for 
cancellation of the FEMA CDL Loan. On November 5, 2010, the Airport received authority from FEMA to 
forgive all the FEMA CDL Loans in the amount of $10,882,641, plus accrued interest of $1,122,297. The Aiiport 
recorded a gain on extmguishment of debt in the amount of $12,004,938 in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, 
and Changes in Net Assets for the year ended December 31, 2010. In addition, the Board received approval for 
participation in the Gulf Tax Credit Bonds Program (Go Zone Tax Credit Bonds) sponsored by the State of 
Louisiana in an amount not exceeding $36,000,000. The Airport was approved for $35,371,990 for an interest 
free period of 60 months. By July 2008, the Airport had drawn the full amount authorized, usiug the funds to pay 
debt service on the. Bonds and related mterest rate swap payments. 

The Airport negotiated a new Commercial Airline Lease effective January 1, 2009 with the Airline 
Transportation Companies. The new Airline - Airport Use and Lease Agreement (the "2009 Airline Lease 
Agreement") has an overall residual airiine rate-setting methodology and a five-year term, which expires on 
December 31, 2013. Other key provisions to the Agreement include, a single terminal building rental rate, an 
annual deposit requirement to the General Purposes Fund, and airline approved capital projects that the NOAB 
may undertake at any time as demand warrants. To date, ten airlines, representing the vast majority of aviation 
activity at the Airport, have executed the Agreement. 

Financial PosittoD 

Total assets increased by $73,101,296 (11%) this year due primarily to an increase in long-term investments as a 
result of the issuance of 2010 PFC Bonds on May 26, 2010 for $53.6 million. Noncunent liabilities are higher 
this fiscal year by $33,122,143 (10%). This increeise was primarily due to increases in bonds payable. Total 
current liabilities have increased by $12,822,852 (41 %) primarily resulting from an increase in accrued expenses 
of $8,881,959 and an increase in the bond interest payable in the amount of $4,451,864. 

The largest portion of the Airport's net assets, $212,834,706 (59%) for 2010 and $192,827,718 (58%) for 2009, 
represents its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery, and equipment), less any related 
outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The Airport uses these assets to provide services to its passengers, 
visitors, and tenants of the airport; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the 
Airport's investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources 
needed to repay this debt must be provided from operations, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to 
liquidate these liabilities. 

An additional portion of the Airport's net assets, $98,492,842 (28%) for 2010 and $102,166,763 (31%) for 2009, 
represents resources that are subject to restrictions from contributors, bond resolutions, and state and federal 
regulations on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net assets, $46,138,990 (13%) for 
2010 and $35,315,757 (11%) for 2009, may be used lo meet the Airport's ongoing obligations. 

4 (Continued) 



LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 

At the end of the current and previous fiscal year, the Airport reported positive balances in all three categories of 
net assets. 

Summary of Net Assets (in thousands) 

2010 2009 2008 

Assets; 
Current and other assets 
Net capital assets 

Total assets 

Liabilities: 
Cuirent liabilities 
Long-term liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Net assets: 
Invested in capital assets, net of debt 
Restricted 
Unresfricted 

Total net assets 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

335,068 
429,897 

764.965 

43,580 
363,919 

407,499 

212,835 
98.493 
46,139 

357,467 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

296,126 
395,738 

691,864 

30,757 
330,797 

361,554 

192,828 
102,166 
35,316 

330.310 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

187,108 
393,233 

580,341 

35,952 
224,479 

260,431 

212,864 
73,385 
33,661 

319,910 

Airlines Rates and Charges 

As previously discussed, a new Auline ~ Airport Use and Lease Agreement has been negotiated and became 
effective January 1, 2009. The rates effective January 1, 2010.and 2009 are as follows: 

2010 2009 
Terminal building rental rates (per sq. ft.) 
Landing fee rate (per 1,000 lbs) 
Apron use fee rate (per sq. ft.) 
Loading bridge use fee (per bridge) 
Enplaned passenger fee rate (per person) 

Due to the terras of the agreement, these rates are subject to settlement. The Auport shall use its best efforts such 
that within the later of (i) one hundred twenty (120) days following the close of each fiscal year or (ii) within 
sixty (60) days of receipt of audited fmancial statements, rates for rentals, fees, and charges for the preceding 
fiscal year shall be recalculated using available financial data and the methods set forth in Exhibit F of the 
agreement. Under the settlements for 2010 and 2009, the Airport's final rate structure varied from the rates in 
effect during the year. 

5 (Continued) 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orieans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 

Revenues 

The following chart shows major sources and the percentage of operating revenues for the year ended 
December 31, 2010. 

Operating Revenue 

TOD W CcfVEascns 
7.2* 

o m ^i tdd Fees 
19% 

/frlnaTeirrlnaRerl 

AtHtwLancitiiFoes 
17.̂ % 

Operating Revenues by Major Source (in thousands) 

Passenger and cargo airlines: 
Airline landing fee payments 
Airline terminal rental payments 
Ground rents 
Other rentals and fees 

Total passenger and 
cargo airlines 

Non airline rentals: 
Concessions-terminal 
Concessions-car rentals 
Public parking 
Other rentals and fees 

Total nonairline rentals 

Total operating revenues 

2010 2009 2008 

11,420 $ 
27,613 

50 
2,509 

41,592 

4,697 
9,357 
5,068 
4,592 

23,714 

65,306 $ 

10,744 $ 
28,784 

50 
Z699 

42,277 

3,894 
8,497 
5,294 
4,411 

22,096 

64,373 $ 

5,675 
31,921 

50 
664 

38,310 

3,847 
9,706 
5,374 
4,860 

23,787 

62,097 

(Continued) 



LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 3 L 2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 

2010 vs. 2009 

The 2009 Airline Lease A^eement remains in effect for 2010. Total air canier revenue for 2010 decreased by 
$685,288 (2%) over 2009 due to reduced revenues resulting from a decrease in rates. The landing fees increased 
by $675,709 (6%). Airlme terminal rentals decreased by $1,170,965 (4%). Nonairline revenue increased by 
$1,617,954 (7%), due primarily to an increase in rental car revenues and concession revenues that were partly 
offset by a decrease in parking revenue. 

2009 vs. 2008 

The 2009 Airline Lease Agreement became effective for fiscal year 2009 while the Rate Resolution implemented 
in 2005 was in effect for 2008. Total air carrier revenue for 2009 increased by $3,967,004 (10%) over 2008 due 
to greater revenues resulting from the unplementation of the 2009 Airline Lease Agreement. The landing fees 
increased $5,069,929 (89%) offset by a decrease in afrline termmal rentals of $3,137,449 (10%). Nonairiine 
revenue decreased by $1,690,990 (7%), due primarily to a decrease in passenger activity. 

Cost per enplaned passenger is a measure used by the airline industry to reflect the costs an airline pays to 
operate at an airport based upon the number of enplaned passengers for that airport. The cost per enplaned 
passenger increased from S9.46 in 2008 to $10.45 in 2009 and decreased to $9.50 in 2010. 

2010 2009 2008 

Cost per enplaned passenger: 
Airline revenues (in thousands) 
Enplaned passengers (m thousands) 
Cost per enplaned passenger 

38,987 $ 
4,102 
9.50 $ 

40,812 
3',906 
10.45 

37,596 
3,973 
9.46 

Expenses 

The following chart shows major expense categories and the percentage of operating expenses for the year ended 
Decernber3I, 2010. 

Operating Expenses (Excluding Depreciation) 

Canc/Unreimb 
12.0% 

^ * 4 ^ 

Administration Area 
52.0% 

Proj. 

^ . V ..'••̂ ) /pV L A 

Direct 

1 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 

Operating Expenses before Depredation (in thousands) 

2010 2009 2008 

Direct (airfield, terminal building and area, 
hangars, leased sites, heliport) $ 16,972 $ 17,427 $ 18,705 

Administration area 24,305 27,772 25,901 
Cancelled/unreimbursed projects 5,562 1,037 1,672 

$ 46,839 $ 46,236 $ 46,278 

2010 vs. 2009 

The operating expenses before depreciation and amortization increased by $602,570 (1%) over the prior year, 
due primarily to recognizing an expense for cancelled/unreimbursed projects m the amount of $5,562,367. This 
increase was offset by decreases in a variety of other expense categories. 

2009 vs. 2008 

The operating expenses before depreciation and amortization remained substantially the same as the prior year. 

Nonoperating Revenues, Net 

2010 vs. 2009 

Nonoperating revenues, net, consists primarily of passenger facility charge (PFC) revenue, customer facility 
charge (CFC) revenue, investment income, capital contributions, gain on extinguishment of debt, and interest 
expense. PFC revenue increased 6% from $15,957,102 in 2009 to $16,912,099 in 2010, due primarily to an 
increase in passenger activity. CFC revenue increased 25% from $9,565,529 in 2009 to $11,975,343. 
Investment income decreased 55% from $239,496 in 2009 to $106,849 in 2010 due to unfavorable interest rates. 
Capital contributions increased 74% from $6,173,801 in 2009 to $10,736,088 in 2010 due primarily to an 
increase in grant revenue received from the federal government. A gain on extinguishment of debt was 
recognized in 2010 due to the FEMA Community Disaster Loan in the amount of $10,882,641, pli^ interest in 
the amount of $1,122,297 being forgiven by the federal government. Interest expense remained substantially the 
same as the prior year, 

2009 vs. 2008 

Nonoperating revenues, net consists primarily of passenger facility charge (PFC) revenue, customer facility 
charge (CFC) revenue, investment income, FAA grant revenue, and interest expense. CFC revenue increased 
86% from $1,299,254 in 2008 to $9,565,529 in 2009. Collections of CFC revenue were initiated in 2008 with 
2009 being the first full year of collections. Investment income decreased by 91% from $2,714,493 in 2008 
compared to $239,496 in 2009 due to unfavorable interest rates. FAA grant revenue increased 51% from 
$4,082,510 in 2008 to $6,173,801 in 2009 due primarily to a increase in the in capital contributions received 
from the federal government. PFC revenue decreased 2% from $16,298,885 in 2008 to $15,957,102 due to a 
reduction in passenger enplanements. Interest expense and bond costs decreased 5% from $14,237,371 in 2008 to 
$13,468,956 in 2009 as a resuU of lower interest expense due to the refunding of bonds. 

8 (Continued) 



LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 

Total Revenues and Expenses (in thousands) 

The following table reflects the total revenues and expenses for the Airport (in thousands): 

2010 2009 2008 

Total operatmg revenues $ 
Total nonoperating revenues 

Total revenues 

Total operating expenses 
Total nonoperating expenses 

Total expenses 

Summary of Changes in Net Assets (in thousands) 

; 65,305 
40,999 

; 106,304 

; 76,438 
13,447 

; 89,885 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

64,373 
25,762 

90,135 

75,002 
13,797 

88,799 

S 

S 

$ 

$ 

62,097 
20,548 

82,645 

76,691 
14,237 

90,928 

2010 2009 2008 

; 65,305 $ 
46,839 

18,466 

' 29,599 

(11,133) 

27,553 

16,420 

10,736 

; 27,156 $ 

64,373 $ 
46,236 

18,137 

28,767 

(10,630) 

11,966 

1.336 

6,174 

7,510 $ 

62,097 
46,278 

15,819 

30,413 

(14,594) 

6,311 

(8,283) 

4,082 

(4,201) 

Summary of changes in net assets: 
Operatmg revenues 
Operating expenses 

Operatmg income before 

depreciation and amortization 

Depreciation and amortization 

Operating loss 

Nonoperating revenues, net 
Income (loss) before capital 

contributions and transfers 

Capital contributions 

Change in net assets 

Operating income before depreciation and amortization increased $330,095 (2%) over the prior fiscal year. 
Depreciation and amortization expense increased $832,652 (3%). Capital contributions increased by $4,562,287 
(74%) due primarily to an increase in the capital contributions received from the federal government. Capital 
contributions are composed of federal grants, which are being received to fund security improvements, airport 
layout plan, and the rehabilitation of the terminal apron at the Airport. 

(Continued) 



LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orieans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 

Capital Assets 

The Airport's investment in capital assete can be noted in the following table. The total increase for this fiscal 
year was 8% before accumulated depreciation and amortization. Major capital asset events occurring this fiscal 
year mclude the following: 

• Land improvements/other buildings increased primarily due to the completion of the Aircraft Loading 
Bridges at a cost of approximately $12.3 million. 

• Terminal buildings and fiimishings mcreased primarily due to the completion.of the Security 
Operations Center for approximately $29.9 million along with the installation of TSA Cameras for 
approximately $1.5 million. 

• Construction in progress increased primarily due to progress on the following projects: 

Project 

Terminal Apron Rehab 

Expansion of Concourse D 

Consolidated Rent A Car Facility 

ARFF Station 

Terminal Interior Improvements 

Terminal FIDS/BIDS/GIDS 

Baggage Claim Improvements 

Upper-Lower Roadway Improvements 

Approximate cost 
during FY 2010 
_ _ _ _ _ 

$11.7 million 

$15.2 million 

$7.1 million 

$3.7 million 

$2.1 million 

$1.0 million 

$0.7 million 

These increases were offset by the completion of various projects. More detailed infonnation on capital assets 
can be found in note 4 of the accompanying financial statements. 

10 (Continued) 



LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 

Net Capital Assets (in thousands) 

2010 2009 2008 
Land $ 
Air rights 
Land improvements 
Buildings and finnishings 
Equipment 
Computers 
Utilities 
Heliport 
Construction in progress 

Total capital assets 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 

Net capital assets $ 

85,432 $ 
22,170 

338,034 
331,640 

6,590 
621 

7.786 
3,070 

86,273 

881,616 

451,719 

429,897 $ 

86,787 $ 
20,188 

325,059 
300,059 

5,905 
-

7,786 
3.070 

69,807 

818,661 

422,923 

395,738 $ 

86.598 
18,817 

322,090 
296,066 

5,862 
-

7,786 
3,070 

49,990 

790,279 

394,156 

396,123 

Debt Activity 

At the end of the current fiscal year, the Airport had total debt outstanding of $374,368,794. The Airport's debt 
represents bonds secured solely by operating revenue and bonds payable from PFC and CFC revenue. 

11 (Continued) 



LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 31, 2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 

2010 2009 2008 

Outstanding Debt (in thousands) 

Bonds payable; 
Refunding Bonds 1993B-C, 1995A, and 1997A $ 
Revenue Bonds 1997B 
Revenue Refunding Bonds 2007 (PFC) 
Revenue Refunding Bonds 2009A-C 
Go Zone CFC Revenue Bonds 2009A 
Revenue Bonds 20 lOA-B (PFC) 

Unamortized bond discount 
Unamortized loss on advanced refunding 
Unamortized bond premium 

Loans payable: 
FEMA 
Go Zone Tax Credit Bonds 

Interest payable: 
FEiVLA 

The Airport's total debt increased $32,862,143 (10%) during the current fiscal year primarily due to the issuance 
of Gulf Opportunity Zone Revenue Bonds (Passenger Facility Charge Projects), Series 2010A, in the amount of 
$52,355,000 and $1,285,000 of Revenue Bonds (Passenger Facility Charge Projects), Series 2010B, to pay for 
the construction of certain capital projects, offset by the cancellation of the FENIA loan in the amount of 
$10,882,641. 

More detailed information on long-term debt can be found in note 5 of the accompanying fmancial statements. 

Debt Service Coverage 

Airport revenue bond covenants require that net revenues together with the sum on deposit m the rollover 
coverage account on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year will at least equal 125% of the bond 
debt service requirement with respect to the bonds for such fiscal year. The bond resolution for the Revenue 
Refimding Bonds Series 2007A, 2007B-i, and 2007B-2, PFC Projects had a remaining ratio requirement of 
105% or greater obtained by dividing the available amount by the cumulative debt amount. Coverage ratios for 
the past three years are shov™ in the following table. 

- $ 
-

83,890 
136,170 
96,515 
53,640 
(3>646) 

(28,290) 
718 

_ 
35,372 

_ 

374,369 $ 

- $ 
-

86,415 
144,355 
96,515 

-
(3,228) 

(30,672) 
745 

10,883 
35,372 

1,122 

341,507 $ 

102,030 
11,300 
88,370 

-
-
-

(45) 
(11,328) 

771 

10,883 
35,372 

801 

238,154 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orieans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 31, 2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 

On November 9, 2007, the Board approved the Rollover Coverage for fiscal year 2008 in the amount of 
$7,000,000. On December 17, 2008, die Board approved the Rollover Coverage for fiscal year 2009 in the 
amount of $5,600,000. On November 6, 2009, the Board approved the Rollover Coverage for fiscal year 2010 in 
the amount of $3,719,573. The funds were transfened to the NOAB Rollover Coverage Account held by the 
City of New Orleans on December 3, 2009, and transferred to the auport operating account in 2010. The 
Auport's calculation of the historical debt service coverage ratio, as presented in Supplemental Schedule 3 to the 
fmancial statements is 150% for the year ended December 31, 2010 and 163% for tihe year ended December 31, 
2009. The Airport is cunent on all debt service payments as required by the bonds, and there has been no 
documented correspondence from the bond insurers or bond holders regarding noncompliance with the debt 
service coveraee covenant. 

2010 2009 2008 

150% 
112 

163% 
112 

128% 
121 

Refundmg Bonds and Revenue Bonds 
Revenue Refunding Bonds 

Airport Activities and Highlights 

Passenger totals for 2010 increased by 415,932 (5%) over 2009 due to an increase in air canier operations and 
passenger activity. Aircraft operations increased from 86,857 operations in 2009 to 89,003 in 2010 (2%). 
Aircraft landed weights increased from 5,174,944 in 2009 to 5,501,940 in 2010 (6%). As of December 2010, the 
Airport had 131 daily departures to 37 cities with 15,084 average daily seats. As of December 2009, the Airport 
had 122 daily departures to 34 cities with 15,094 average daily seats. 

The Airport is continuing a program to rehabilitate aging infrastructure to meet cunent demands. Work is 
continuing on Consolidated Rent A Car Facility, the Expansion of Concourse "D", the Terminal Apron 
Rehabilitation, Terminal Improvements, and a new ARFF Station. 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 31, 2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

(Unaudited) 

Selected statistical information about total passengers, aircraft landed weight, and air carrier operations for the 
past three years are presented in the table below. 

Fiscal year 
2008 
2009 
2010 

Total 
passengers 

7,967,997 
7,787,373 
8,203,305 

Landed weight 
(1,000 pound 

units) 
5,364,909 
5,174,944 
5,501,940 

Air carrier 
operations 

92,989 
86,857 
89.003 

Requests for Information 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Airport's finances. Questions concerning 
any of the information should be addressed to the Deputy Director of Finance and Administration, Louis 
Armstrong New Orleans International Airport, Post Office Box 20007, New Orleans, Louisiana 70141. 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Balance Sheets 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

Assets 

Cunent assets: 
Unrestricted assets: 

Cash (note 2) 
Accounts receivable, less allovrance for doubtfiil accounts 

of$l,152,543 in 2010; $1,233,999 in 2009 
Investments (note 2) 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 

Total unrestricted assets 

Restricted assets (notes 2, 3, and 5): 
Cash 
Investments 
Passenger facility charges receivable 
Customer facihty charges receivable 
Capital grant receivable 

Total restricted assets 

Total cunent assets 

Noncurrent assets: 
Long-term investments (note 2): 

Investments, restricted 

Total long-term investments 

Capital assets (note 4): 
Capital assets not betog depreciated 
Capital assets being depreciated 
Less accumulated depreciation 

Total capital assets, net 

Prepaid insurance on revenue bonds, less accumulated 
amortization of $573,406 in 2010; $311,126 in 2009 

Deferred cost of bond issuance, less accumulated amortization 
of $510,752 in 2010; $221,606 in 2009 

Total noncunent assets 

Total assets 

2010 2009 

2,851,944 $ 

1,702,627 
84,156,164 

1,888,854 

90,599,589 

601,414 
30,486,463 

1,655,612 
856,511 
891,133 

34,491,133 

125,090,722 

199,550,645 

199,550,645 

193,875,484 
687,740,714 

(451,719,271) 

429,896,927 

4,258,096 

6,168,684 

639,874,352 

764,965,074 $ 

(as adjusted) 

1,606.798 

8,970,824 
80.289,676 

1.432,762 

92,300,060 

313,669 
17,282,806 
1,791,147 

766,729 
995,163 

21,149,514 

113,449,574 

172,876,561 

172,876,561 

176,781,956 
641,878,489 

(422,922,765) 

395,737,680 

4,520,376 

5,279,587 

578,414,204 

691.863,778 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orieans) 

Balance Sheets 

December 31, 2010 and 2009 

Liabilities and Net Assets 

Cunent liabilities: 
Payable fi-om unrestricted assets: 

Accounts payable 
Due to City of New Orieans 
Accrued salaries and other compensation 
Capital projects payable 

Total unrestricted current liabilities 

Payable fi-om restricted assets: 
Accounts payable 
Accrued bond interest payable 
Bonds payable, current portion (note 5) 
Capital projects payable 

Total restricted current liabilities 

Total current liabiUties 

Noncunent liabilities: 
Bonds payable, less cunent portion, unamortized loss on 

advance refunding and unamortized discount (note 5) 
Loans payable 
Loan interest payable 

Total noncunent liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Net assets: 
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 
Restricted for: 

Debt service 
Capital acquisition 
Operating reserve 

Unrestricted 

Total net assets 

Total liabilities and net assets 

2010 2009 

6,522,977 $ 
1.007,283 
1,346,851 

211,498 

9,088,609 

5,727,160 
10,346,941 
10,450,000 
7,967,032 

34,491,133 

43,579,742 

328,546,804 
35,371,990 

363,918,794 

407,498.536 

212,834,706 

44,812,148 
41,584,061 
12,096,633 
46,138,990 

357,466,538 

764,965,074 $ 

(as adjusted) 

6,579,872 
827,311 

1,720,897 
479,295 

9,607,375 

5,895,077 
10,710,000 
4,544,437 

21,149,514 

30,756,889 

283,419,723 
46,254,631 

1,122,297 

330,796,651 

361,553,540 

192,827,719 

40,822,423 
49,880,117 
11,464,223 
35315,756 

330.310,238 

691,863,778 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 



LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets 

Years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 

2010 2009 

Operating revenues (note 8): 
Landing and aufield fees 
Terminal building 
Ground transportation and other areas 
Other 

Total operating revenues 

Operating expenses: 
Direct 
Depreciation and impairment write-down 
Administrative 
Cancelled/unreimbursed projects 

Total operatmg expenses 

Operating loss 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 
Investment income 
Interest expense 
Passenger facility charges 
Customer facility charges 
Gain on forgiveness of debt (note 5) 
Other, net 

(as adjusted) 
14,198,440 $ 13,527,591 
48,895,154 48,625,020 

2,130,521 2,220,295 
81,456 — 

65,305,571 

16,971,565 
29,599,254 
24,304,830 

5,562,367 

76,438,016 

64,372,906 

17,427,097 
28,766,602 
27,772,127 

1,036,968 

75,002,794 

(11,132,445) (10,629,888) 

106,849 
(13,415,121) 

16,912,099 
11,975,343 
12.004.938 

(31,451) 

239,496 
(13,468,956) 

15,957,102 
9,565,529 

(327,553) 

Total nonoperating revenues, net 

Income before capital contributions 

Capital contributions (note 6) 

Change in net assets 

Total net assets, begirming of year 

Adjustment for retrospective application of new accounting principle (note 1) 

Total net assets, end of year $ 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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27,552,657 

16,420,212 

10,736,088 

27,156,300 

330,310,238 

— 

357,466,538 S 

11,965,618 

1,335,730 

6,173,801 

7,509,531 

319,910,546 

2,890,161 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Statements of Cash Flows 

Years ended December 31,2010 and 2009 

2010 2009 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Cash received frora customers 
Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services 
Cash paid to employees and on behalf of employees 

for services 
OtJier receipts 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Cash flow from noncapital financing activities: 
Sales tax receipts 
FEMA proceeds 

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 

Cash flows from capital and related financmg activities: 
Passenger facility charges collected 
Customer facility charges collected 
Proceeds from disposition of property 
Acquisition and construction of capital assets 
Capital grants received 
Principal paid on revenue bond maturities 
Issuance of revenue bonds 
Interest paid on bonds and loans 
Cost of bond issuance and insurance 

Net cash provided by coital and related financing 
activities 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Sales of mvestments 
Purchases of investments 
Interest and dividends on investments 

Net cash used in capital and related financing 
activities 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note 2) 

Noncash investing activities: 
Increase (decrease) in investments due to change in fair value 

Noncash financing activities: 
Amortization of bond-related costs 

Gain on forgiveness of debt 

72,655,224 $ 
(28.628,292) 

(9.217,475) 
69,603 

34,879,060 

651,407 
306,365 

957,772 

17,047,634 
11,885,561 

13,214 
(56,153,065) 
10,840,118 

(11,845,910) 
54,775,910 

(16,051,780) 
(1,178,243) 

9,333,439 

231,548,127 
(275,292,356) 

106,849 

(43,637,380) 

1,532,891 
1,920,467 
3,453,358 S 

(32,231) $ 

(2,932,547) $ 

12,004,938 $ 

(as adjusted) 
64,755,543 

(38,987,819) 

(8,457.494) 
34,770 

17,345,000 

634,402 

634,402 

15,656,892 
8,798,800 

(30,348,949) 
5,274,987 

(115,285,000) 
240,870,000 

(9,032,229) 
(29,649,411) 

86,285,090 

246,769,087 
(352,768,582) 

241,199 

(105,758,296) 

(1,493,804) 
3,414,271 
1,920,467 

36 

(2,632,219) 

— 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Statements of Cash Flows 

Years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 

2010 2009 

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash provided 
by operating activities: 

Operating loss • 
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash 

provided by operating activities: 
Depreciation and impairment 
Decrease in allowance for doubtful accounts 
Cancelled/unreimbursed projects 
Other 
Changes in assets and liabilities: 

Accoimts receivable 
Inventory of materials and supplies 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 
Due from City of New Orleans 
Accounts payable 
Accrued salaries and other compensation 
Accrued expenses 
Due to City of New Orleans 

Total adjustments 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

'• (as adjusted) 

$ (11,132,445) $ (10,629.888) 

29,599,254 
(81,456) 

4,054,352 
69,603 

7,349,653 
— 

(456,091) 
— 

5,670,264 
(464,249) 

— 
270.175 

28,766,602 
(17.421) 

— 
34,770 

382.637 
116,542 

(464,373) 
1.187,263 

309,012 
234,169 

(3,038,469) 
464 J 56 

46.011,505 27,974,( 

$ 34,879,060 $ 17,345.000 

See accompanying notes to fmancial statements. 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of die City of New Orieans) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2010 and 2009 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Organization 

The Louis Armstrong New Orleans hitemational Airport (the Airport) is a proprietary component 
unit of the City of New Orleans, Louisiana. The New Orleans Aviation Board (the Board) was 
established in 1943 to provide for the operation and maintenance of the Auport. The Board consists 
of nine members appointed by the Mayor of the City of New Orleans with approval of the New 
Orleans City Council. The City of Kenner, Louisiana and the Parish of St. Charles, Louisiana each 
have input as to the selection of one board member. 

The accompanying policies of the Airport conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America as applicable to proprietary component units of governmental entities. 

(b) Basis of Presentation 

Proprietary fiind accounting is used for the Airport's ongoing operations and activities which are 
similar to those often found in the private sector. Proprietary fimds are accounted for using the 
economic resources measurement focus. The Airport is a proprietary component unit and accoimts 
for operations (a) that are fmanced and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises 
where the intent of the governing body is that the cost (expenses, including depreciation) of 
providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be fmanced or recovered 
primarily through user charges and (b) where the governing body has decided that periodic 
determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital 
maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes. 

The principal operating revenues of the Airport are fi-om sources such as airliues, concessions, rental 
cars, and parking. Investment income, passenger facility charges, customer facility charges, federal 
and state grants, and other revenues,not related to the operations of the Auport are nonoperating 
revenues. Operating expenses include the cost of airport and related facilities maintenance, 
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. Interest expense and financing costs are 
nonoperating expenses. 

(c) Basis of Accounting 

The accompanying fmancial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting under 
which revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incuned. Revenues 
from landing and airfield fees, terminal building, rental building, and leased areas are reported as 
operating revenues. Transactions, which are capital, financing, or investing related, are reported as 
nonoperating revenues. Expenses from employee wages and benefits, purchase of services, materials 
and supplies, and other miscellaneous expenses are reported as operating expenses. Interest expense 
and financing costs are reported as nonoperating expenses. Under the provisions of Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 20, Accoimting and Financial Reporting for 
Proprietary Fund Accounting, the City of New Orleans has elected not to follow Financial 
Accounting Standards Board guidance issued subsequent to November 30, 1989. 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of tiie City of New Orleans) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2010 and 2009 

(d) Change in Accounting Policy 

Effective for the year ended December 31, 2010, tiie Airport adopted the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board's (GASB) Statement No. 51 - Accounting and Financial Reporting for Intangible 
Assets (GASB 51). GASB 51 provides that if there are no factors that limit the useful life of an 
intangible asset, the intangible asset is considered to have an indefinite usefiil life. Intangible assets 
with indefmite life is subsequentiy determined that certain air rights previously recorded as 
amortizable capital assets, now qualify as intangible assets as defined in GASB 51. In accordance 
with the GASB 51, the Airport has applied reclassifications and adjustments retroactively. Ak rights 
have been reclassified on the Balance Sheet from capital assets being depreciated to capital assets not 
being depreciated. In addition, the Airport has made the foUowmg adjustinents to the December 31, 
2009 financial statements: 

Balance Sheet 
Accumulated depreciation 
Net Assets 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
Depreciation 
Changes in Net Assets for the Year 
Total Net Assets - Beginning of the Year 

As Originally 
Stated 

426,576,838 3 
326,656,165 

29,530,514 S 
6,745,619 

319,910,546 

As Adjusted 

; 422,922,765 3 
330,310,238 

; 28,766,602 3 
7,509,531 

322,800,707 

Net Change 

: 3,654.073 
(3,654,073) 

; 763,912 
(763,912) 

(2,890,161) 

(e) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of fmancial statements m conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

(f) Accounts Receivable 

An allowance for estimated uncollectible accounts receivable is established at the time information 
becomes available, which would indicate the uncollectibility of the particular receivable. 

(§} Investments 

Investments are canied at fair value in the financial statements. Unrealized gains and losses on 
investments are reflected in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets. 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

(k) Capital Assets 

Capital assets are carried at cost. An item is classified as an asset if the initial, individual cost is 
$1,000 or greater. Additions, improvements, and other capital outlays that significantly extend the 
useful life of an asset are capitalized. Other costs incurred for repairs and maintenance are expensed 
as incurred. In situations involving the construction of certain assets fmanced with the proceeds of 
tax-exempt borrowings, interest earned on related interest-bearing investments from such proceeds 
are offset against the related interest costs in determining the amount of interest to be capitalized. 
There was capitalized interest in the amount of $8,518,203 in 2010 and 499,220 in 2009. 

Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line method 
commencing with the date of acquisition or, in the case of assets constructed, the date placed into 
service. 

The estimated useful lives by major classification are as follows: 

Land improvements 
Buiic^ngs and furnishings 
Equipment 
Utilities 
Heliport 

Estimated 
useful 

lives (years) 
10-25 
3 -25 
3-15 
5-25 
5-15 

(i) Due from/Due to the City of New Orleans 

Amoimts recorded as due frora and due to the City of New Orleans primarily relate to amounts paid 
by the City on behalf of the Airport In addition, the City provides certain adminisfrative services to 
the Airport. The cost of such services was $1,670,017 and $1,590,493 for the years ended 
December31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and is recorded in administrative expenses in the 
statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net assets. 

(/) Restricted Assets 

Restricted assets include investments required to be maintained for debt service, capital additions 
and contingencies, operations and maintenance, and escrow under the indentures of the revenue and 
refunding bonds, as well as investments to be used for the construction of capital improvements. 
Restricted assets also include receivables related to passenger and customer facility charges and 
grants. 

(k) Bond Insurance 

In conjunction with bonds issued in 2009 and 2007, insurance was purchased which guarantees (he 
payment of bond principal and interest and expires with the final principal and interest payment on 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orieans) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

the bonds. The insurance costs were capitalized at the dates of issuance and are being amortized over 
the life of the bonds using the interest method. 

(I) Revenue Recognition 

Landing and airfield fees, terminal building, rental building, and leased areas rentals are recorded as 
revenues of the year in which earned. 

On August 29, 2005, the Airport and the City of New Orleans sustained significant damages due to 
Hurricane Katrina. The Airport sustained minor damages to its capital assets. The major impact to 
the Airport was related to operations, and no fees were charged to the air carriers for the month of 
September 2005. 

As a result of the hurricane, the Airport entered into negotiations with the airline transportation 
companies in order to determine the maximum amount of fees and charges the Airport would be able 
to charge to retam the airlme transportation companies and provide airline services to the City of 
New Orleans. In November 2005, the Board adopted the rates, fees, and charges resolution whereby 
the airport transportation companies are charged $8.00 per enplaned passenger. Landing fees were 
established at $1.07 per 1,000 pounds of gross maximum landed weight. On January 1, 2009 all 
prospective signatory airlines began paying signatory airiine rates and charges according to the new 
lease agreement. The rates for 2010 and 2009 are as follows: 

2010 2009 
Terminal building rental rates (per sq. ft.) 
Landmg fee rate (per 1,000 lbs) 
Apron use fee rate (per sq. ft.) 
Loading bridge use fee (per bridge) 
Enplaned passenger fee rate (per person) 

Due to the terms of the agreement, these rates are subject to settlement. The Airport shall use its best 
efforts such that within tiie later of (i) one hundred twenty (120) days following the close of each 
fiscal year or (ii) within sixty (60) days of receipt of audited fmancial statements, rates for rentals, 
fees, and charges for the preceding fiscal year shall be recalculated using available fmancial data and 
the methods. Under the settlements for 2009 and 2010, the Airport's final rate structure varied from 
the rates in effect during the year. 

(m) passenger Facility Charges 

On June 1, 1993, the Airport began imposing, upon approval of the Federal Aviation Admmistration 
(the FAA), a $3.00 Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) on each passenger enplaned at tiie Airport. On 
April I, 2002, the FAA approved an increase in the amount of this fee to $4.50. As of December 31, 
2010 tiie Airport is autiiorized to collect up to $571,083,541 of PFC revenue of which $261,513,064 
has been collected. PFC revenues are pledged to secure the Series 2007 Revenue bonds and the 
Series 2010 Revenue bonds, which funded construction of preapproved capital projects and 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orieans) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31.2010 and 2009 

redeemed prior Series of PFC Bonds. As of December 31, 2010, the estimated expu-ation date on 
PFC revenue collection is June 1, 2026. 

(n) Customer Facility Charges 

On November 1,2008, die Airport began imposing a $5.50 Customer Facility Charge (CFC) on a per 
transaction day basis to all the Ofl-Airport Rental Car Companies. On May 13, 2009, the Board 
approved an increase m the CFC charge to $6.20 which became effective June 1, 2009. CFC 
revenues are pledged to secure the Series 2009 Gulf Opportunity Zone CFC Revenue Bonds, which 
were issued to fund the construction of the CONRAC garage. 

(o) Federal Financial Assistance 

The Airport receives fmancial assistance for costs of construction and improvements to airport 
facilities through grants from the FAA. The Airport is on the reimbursement basis for fimds received 
for fmancial assistance. As of December 31, 2010, the Airport had received $2,591,440 from FEMA 
as reimbursement for repairs and expenses incurred by the Airport as a result of Hunicanes Katrina 
and Gustav. 

(p) Vacation and Sick Leave 

All full-time classified employees of the Airport hired prior to January 1, 1979 are permitted to 
accrue a maximum of 90 days of vacation (anniml leave) and an unlimited number of days of sick 
leave (accumulated at a maximum of 24 days per year). Employees hired after December 31, 1978 
can accrue a maximum of 45 days annual leave and an unlimited number of days of sick leave 
(accumulated at a maximum of 24 days per year). Upon termination of employment, an employee is 
paid for their accrued annual leave based on their curtent hourly rate of pay and for their accrued 
sick leave on a formula basis. If termination is the result of retirement, the employee has the option 
of converting their accrued annual and sick leave to additional pension credits. Aimual leave and sick 
leave liabilities are accrued when incuned. 

(q) Statements of Cash Flows 

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include unrestricted cash, 
unrestricted certificates of deposit, and restricted cash. 

(2) Cash and Investments 

Included in tiie Airport's cash balances are amounts deposited witii commercial banks in interest bearing 
and noninterest bearing demand accounts. The commercial bank balances are entirely insured by federal 
depository insurance or by collateral held by the fmancial institution in the Airport's name. 

The Airport follows GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain 
Investments and for External Investment Pools, which requires the adjustments of tiie carrying values of 
investments to fan value, which is based on available market values. The local government investment 
pool is a "2a-7-iike" pool in accordance with GASB Statement No. 31; therefore, it is not presented at fair 
value but at its actual pooled share price, which approximates fair value. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
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(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2010 and 2009 

the fair value of all securities regardless of balance sheet classifications as cash and cash equivalents or 
investments was as follows: 

2010 2009 

Securities: 
Common Stock: Airline bankruptcies 
Local government investment pool 
Investment in money market funds 

Total securities, at fair value 

591.493 $ 
83,353,040 

230,248,739 

496,965 
72,260,814 

197,691,264 

$ 314,193,272 $ 270,449,043 

These securities are held in the following accounts: 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 

Noncunent assets: 
Investments 

Total cash and mvestments 

Less cash on deposit 

Total securities, at fair value 

2010 

3,453,358 $ 
114,642,627 

199,550.645 

317,646,630 

(3,453,358) 

2009 

1,920,467 
97,572,482 

172,876,561 

272,369,510 

(1,920,467) 

$ 314,193,272 $ 270,449,043 

The Airport is authorized to invest in securities as described in its investment policy, in each bond 
resolution and state statue. As of December 31 2010, and 2009, the Airport held the following investments 
as categorized below in accordance with GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk 
Disclosures: 
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(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

Investment Maturities at December 31» 2010 

Investment type 

Common Stock: Airiine bankruplxiies 
Local government investment pool 
Money market funds 

Investment I 

Investment type 

Common Stock: Airline bankruptcies 
Local govermnent investment jwol 
Money market funds 

Less than 
1 year 

$ 591,493 
83,353,040 

230,248,739 

$ 314,193,272 

Maturities atDecembei 

Less than 
1 year 

$ 496,965 
72,260,814 

197,691,264 

270,449,043 

$ 

^_ 

r31, 

$ 

$_ 

l t o 5 
years 

,2009 

l t o 5 
years 

- $ 

- $ 

- $ 

- $ 

Total 

591,493 
83,353,040 

230,248,739 

314,193,272 

Total 

496,965 
72,260,815 

197,691,264 

270,449,043 

Interest Rate Risk: As a means of limituig its exposure to fair value losses'arising from rising interest 
rates, investments are generally held to mattirity. The Airport's investinent policy requires tiie investinent 
portfolio to be strucmred to provide sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as tiiey come due. To the extent 
possible, mvestinent maturities are matched with known cash needs and anticipated cash flow 
requirements. Additionally, maturity limitations for investments related to the issuance of debt are outlined 
in the Bond Resolution relating to the specific bond issue. 

Credit Risk: The Airport's general investment policy applies the prudent-person rule: 

Investments are made as a prudent person would be expected to act, with discretion and intelligence, to 
seek reasonable income, preserve capital and, in general, avoid speculative investments. Airport policy 
Ihnits investments to the highest credit rating category of Standaiti & Poor's (S&P). Funds can only be 
invested in money market funds rated AAAm, AAm, or AAAm-G by S&P. 

In accordance with the Autiiority's investment policy and bond resolutions, all U.S. government agency 
securities held in the portfolio are either issued by or explicitly guaranteed by tiie U.S. government. 

Custodial Credit Risk: For an investinent, custodial risk is the risk that, m the event of the failure of tiie 
counterparty, the Airport will not be able to recover the values of its investments or collateral securities 
tiiat are in tiie possession of an outside party. All of the Airport's investments are either held in the name of 
the Airport or held in trust under the Airport's name. 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

Concentration of Credit Risk: The Airport's investments are not subject to a concentration of credit risk. 

In 2007, the Airport acquired common stock as a result of bankruptcy proceedings of three airlines. The 
common stock with a market value of $591,493 at December 31, 2010 was subject to market risk as a 
result of the volatility of the stock market. 

LAMP: LAMP is administered by LAMP, Inc., a non-profit corporation organized under the laws of the 
State of Louisiana. Only local government entities having contracted to participate in LAMP have an 
investment interest in its pool of assets. The primary objective of LAMP is to provide a safe enviromnent 
for tiie placement of public funds in short-term, high quality investments. The LAMP portfolio includes 
only securities and other obligations in which local governments in Louisiana are authorized to invest in 
accordance with Louisiana R.S. 33:2955. Accordingly, LAMP investments are restricted to securities 
issued, guaranteed, or backed by the U.S. Treasury, the U.S. Government, or one of its agencies, 
enterprises, or instrumentalities, as well as repurchase agreements collateralized by those securities. The 
dollar weighted average portfoUo maturity of LAMP assets is restricted to not more than 90 days, and 
consists of no securities with a maturity in excess of 397 days. LAMP is designed to be highly liquid to 
provide immediate access to participants. The fair market value of investments is determined on a weekly 
basis to monitor any variances between amortized cost and market value. For purposes of determining 
participants' shares, investments are valued at amortized cost. 

(3) Summary of Restricted Aiisets 

Assets restricted for specific purposes in accordance with bond indentures and other legal restrictions are 
composed of the following at December 31,2010 and 2009: 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Notes to Fmancial Statements 

December 31, 2010 and 2009 

(4) Capital Assets 

Capital assets include assets acquired with the Auport's own funds as well as those acquh-ed through 
resources externally resfricted for capital acquisition. A summary of changes in capital assets for the years 
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 is as follows: 

Capital assets not being depreciated: 
Land 
Air rights 
Construction in progress 

Total capital assets 
not being 
depreciated 

CE îtal assets being depreciated; 
Land improvements 
Buildmgs and furnishings 
Equipment 
Computers 
Utilities 
Heliport 

Total capital assets 
being depreciated 

Total capital assets 

Less accumulated depreciation: 
Land improvements 
Buildings and furnishings 
Equipment 
Computers 
Utilities 
Heliport 

Total accumulated 
depreciation 

Total capital assets, net 

Balance 
December 31, 

2069 (as 
Adjusted) 

(as adjusted) 
S 86,787,123 $ 

20,188,143 
69,806,690 

176,781,956 

325,059,239 
300,058,947 

5,904,500 
-

7,786,124 
3,069,679 

641,878,489 

818,660,445 

184,832,734 
224.893,146 

5,443,526 
-

4,686,102 
3,067,257 

422,922,765 

$ 395,737,680 $ 

Additions/ 
transfers 
during 
year 

905,858 $ 
1,982,087 

67,785,681 

70,673,626 

13,014,365 
32,253,643 

685,380 
621,340 

-
-

46,574,730 

117,248,356 

15,027,418 
13,458,122 

190,838 
100,883 
258,634 

281 

29,036,176 

88,212,180 $ 

Deletions/ 
transfers 
during 
year 

(2,260,865) $ 
-

(51,319,233) 

(53,580,098) 

(40,250) 
(672,255) 

-
-
-
-

(712,505) 

(54,292,603) 

-
(239,670) 

-
-
-
-

(239,670) 

(54,052,933) $ 

Balance 
December 31, 

2010 

85,432,116 
22,170,230 
86,273,138 

193,875,484 

338,033,354 
331,640,337 

6,589,880 
621,340 

7,786,124 
3,069,679 

687,740,714 

881,616,198 

199,860,152 
238,111,598 

5,634,364 
100,883 

4,944,736 
3,067,538 

451,719,271 

429,896,927 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

Capital assets not being depreciated: 

Balance 
December 31, 

2008(as 
Adjusted) 

Land $ 86,597,824 $ 
Air rights 
Construction in progress 

Total capital assets 
not being 
depreciated 

Capital assets being depreciated: 
Land improvements 
Buildings and furnishings 
Equipment 
Utilities 
Heliport 

Total capital assets 
being depreciated 

Total capital assets 

Less accumulated depreciation: 
Land improvements 
Buildings and furnishings 
Equipment 
Utilities 
Heliport 

Total accumulated 
depreciation 

Total capital assets, net ! 

18,817,055 
49,989,818 

155,404,697 

322,090,380 
296,066,360 

5,862,350 
7.786,124 
3,069,679 

634,874,893 

790,279,590 

169,739,603 
211,715,391 

5,207,081 
4,427,468 
3,066,620 

394,156,163 

E 396,123,427 $ 

Additions/ 
transfers 
during 
year 

189,299 $ 
1,371,088 

28,406,195 

29,966,582 

2,968,859 
3,990,542 

42,150 
-
-

7,001,551 

36,968,133 

15,093,131 
13,177,755 

236,445 
258,634 

637 

28,766,602 

8,201,531 S 

Deletions/ 
transfers 
during 
year 

- $ 
-

(8,589,323) 

(8,589,323) 

-
2,045 

-
-
-

2,045 

(8,587,278) 

-
-
-
-
-

-

(8,587,278) S 

Balance 
Decembers!, 

2009 (as 
Adjusted) 

86,787,123 
20,188,143 
69,806,690 

176,781,956 

325,059,239 
300,058,947 

5,904,500 
7,786,124 
3,069,679 

641,878,489 

818,660,445 

184,832,734 
224,893,146 

5,443,526 
4,686,102 
3,067,257 

422,922,765 

395,737,680 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of tiie City of New Orleans) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

Construction m progress is composed of the following at December 31,2010: 

Description 

Consolidated Rent A Car Facility 
Expansion of Concourse "D" 
Terminal Apron Rehab 
New Utility Building 

Consolidated Check Point - West Tenninal 
New ARFF Station 

Terminal Apron Rehab Phase II 

Expansion Taxiway Gulf Phase I 
Terminal/Baggage Claim Improvements 

Tenninal Interior Improvements 
Exterior Terminal - Lower and Upper Roads 
New Airfield Lighting Vault 

North Perimeter Road Improvements 
Runway 6/24 Conversion 
Tenninal FIDS/BIDS/GIDS 
USAGE Airport Levee Coordination 
Miscellaneous Projects under $1,000,000 

Project 
authorization 

97,422,050 $ 
27,933,000 
20,700,084 

19,058,835 

15,000,000 
14,979,095 

10,836,203 

10,601,755 

8,555,109 
7,981,341 

6,193,553 

5,395,913 

4,846,154 

4,153,846 
2,968,559 
1,264,691 
2,660,594 

260,550,782 $ 

December 31, 
2010 

22,355,731 $ 
19,536,231 
16,409,344 

1,331,112 

538,618 
10,282,612 

1,003,517 

301,913 
1,408,201 

6,522,204 

1,272,959 

340,580 . 

486,049 
247,288 

2,299,199 
448,853 

1,488,727 

86,273,138 $ 

Remaining 
commitments 

75,066,319 
8,396,769 
4,290,740 

17,727,723 
14,461,382 

4,696,483 

9,832,686 

10,299,842 

7,146,908 

1,459,137 
4,920,594 

5,055,333 

4360,105 

3,906,558 
669,360 

815,838 

1,171,867 

174,277,644 

During the year ended December 31, 2010, an impairment write-down of $563,078 is included in 
depreciation and impairment write-dovra on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net 
Assets. The impairment write-down resulted from a reduction in the carrying amount of certain passenger 
loading bridges. The Airport detennined that these loading bridges had no future benefit and were 
subsequently sold as scrap metal m 2011. 
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(5) Long-term Debt 

Long-term debt activity for the years ended December 31,2010 and 2009 was as follows: 

Lon2-Tcrm Debt 

Balance 
December 31, 

2009 Additions Deductions 

Balance 
December 31, 

2010 

Amounts 
due within 
one year 

Bonds Payable: 
Series 2CX)7A Revenue Bonds, 

fixed interest rate 
Januarj'1,2038 
at 4.25̂ /0 final maturiiy 

Series 2007B-1 Revenue Refimding 
Bonds, fixed interest rate 
January 1,2020 
at 4.25% flnaJ maturity 

Series 2007B-2 Revenue Refiinding 
Bonds, fixed interest rale 
January 1, 2019 
al 4.25% final maturity 

Series 2009A Interim Revenue 
Notes PFC Drawdown Bond and 
Credit Facility, final maturity" 
January 1, 2040 at LIBOR+1.73% 

Series 2009A-1 Revenue Refiinding 
bonds, fixed interest rate 
January 1,2023 
at 4.25% final maturity 

Series 2009A-2 Revenue Refimding 
bonds, fixed interest rate 
January 1,2023 
at 4,25% fmal maluritj' 

Series 2009B Revenue Refiinding 
bonds, fixed interest rate 
January 1,2015 
at 4.50% fmal maturity 

Series 2009C Revenue Refiinding 
bonds, fixed interest rate 
January 1,2012 
at 3.50% final maturity 

Series 20O9A GO ZONE CFC 
Revenue bonds, fixed interest 
rale; January 1,2040 
at 4.625% final maturity 

$ 64,925,000 $ 

4^95,000 

17,195,000 

1,135,910 

73,960,000 

23.055,000 

27,140,000 

20,200,000 

96,515,000 

(1,015,000) S 63,910.000 $ 1.060.000 

4,295,000 

(1,510.000) 15,685,000 1.575,000 

(1,135.910) 

73,960,000 

23,055,000 

27,140,000 

(8,185,000) 12,015,000 7,815,000 

96,515.000 
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December 31,2010 and 2009 

Long-Term Debt 
Bonds Payable: 
Series 2010A GO ZONE PFC 

Revenue Bonds, fixed interest 
rale, January 1,2041 
at 5.25% fmal maturity 

Series 2010B GO ZONE PFC 
Revenue Bonds, fixed interest 
rate, January 1,2038 
at 5.125% final maturity 

Balance 
December 31, 

2009 Additions Deductions 

Balance 
December 31, 

2010 

Amounts 
due within 
one year 

327,285,000 

- $ 52,355,000 $ 

1,285.000 

- $ 52.355.000 $ 

1.285,000 

54,775.910 (11,845,910) 370,215,000 10,450,000 

Less: 
Unamortized loss on advance 

refunding 
Unamortized discount on 

bonds 
Unamortized premium on 

bonds 

Loans Payable: 
FEMA 
Go Zone 

OttiCT Liabilities: 
FEMA Interest Payable 

(30,671,720) 

(3,228,516) 

744,959 
294,129,723 

10,882,641 
35.371,990 

46.254,631 

1,122,297 

\,122.297 

$ 341,506.65) $ 

(481,532) 

54.294.378 

2,381,121 

64,098 

(26,606) 
(9,427.297) 

(10,882,641) 

(10,882,641) 

(1,122,297) 

(1,122,297) 

; (21,432,235) $ 

(28,290,599) 

(3,645,950) 

718,353 

338,996,804 

35.371,990 

35,371.990 

374,368,794 

10,450,000 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
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Long-Term Debt 

Bonds Payable; 
Series 1993B Refiinding bonds, 

variable rates, final maturity 
August 1, 2016 

Series 1993C Refunding bonds, 
variable rates, final maturity 
August 3. 20U 

Series 1995 A Refiinding bonds, 
variable rates, final maturity 
August I, 2015 

Series 1997A Refunding bonds, 
variable rates, final maturity 
August 5, 2015 

Series 1997B-1 Revenue bonds, 
fixed interest rate 
5.45%, fmal maturity 
October 1,2027 

Series 1997B-2 Taxable revenue 
bonds, fixed interest rate 
6.45%, fmal maturity 
October 1,2027 

Series 2007A Revenue bonds, 
fixed interest rate 
January 1,2038 
at 4.25% final maturity 

Series 2007B-1 Revenue Refiinding 
bonds, fixed interest rate 
January 1, 2020 
at 4.25% final maturity 

Series 2007B-2 Revenue Refimding 
bonds, fixed interest rate 
January 1.2019 
at 4.25% final mmuriiy 

Series 2009A-1 Revenue Refimding 
bonds, fixed interest rate 
January 1,2023 
at 4.25% final manirity 

Scries 2009A-2 Revenue Refiinding 
bonds, fixed interest rate 
January 1, 2023 
at 4.25% final mamrity 

Series 2009B Revenue Refiinding 
bonds, fixed interest rate 
January 1,2015 
at 4,50% final maturity 

Balance 
Decembers], 

2008 Additions DeductiaiK 

Balance 
December 31, 

2009 

Amounts 
due within 
one year 

$ 73,125,000 J 

1.015.000 

11,390.000 

16.500,000 

2,555,000 

8,745,000 

65,530.000 

4,295,000 

18,545,000 

(73,125,000) S 

(1,015,000) 

(11,390,000) 

(16,500,000) 

(2,555,000) 

(8.745,000) 

(605,000) 64,925,000 

4,295,000 

(1,350,000) 17,195,000 

1,015,000 

1,510.000 

73,960,000 

23,055,000 

27.140,000 

73,960,000 

23,055,000 

27,140,000 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2010 and 2009 

Long-Term Debt 

Bonds Payable: 
Series 2009C Revenue Refimding 

bonds, fixed interest rate 
January 1, 2012 
at 3.50% final maturity 

Series 2009A GO ZONE CFC 
Revenue bonds, fixed interest 
rate, January 1, 2040 
at 4.625% final maturity 

Balance 
December 31, 

2008 Additions Deductions 

Balance 
December 31, 

2009 

Amounts 
due within 

one year 

- s 20,200,000 

96,515,000 

- $ 20,200,000 $ 8,185,000 

96,515,000 

Bonds Payable: 
Less: 

Unamortized loss on advance 
refiinding 

Unamortized discount on 
bonds 

Unamortized premium on 
bonds 

Loans Payable: 
FEMA . 
Go Zone 

Other Liabilities: 
FEMA Interest Payable 

201,700,000 

(11,328,043) 

(44,300) 

771,564 
191,099,221 . 

10,882,641 
35,371,990 
46,254,631 -

800,592 
800,592 

$ 238,154,444 $ 

240,870,000 

(29,851,426) 

(3.219,955) 

-
207.798,619 

-
-
-

321,705 
321,705 

208,120,324 $ 

(115,285,000) 

10,507,749 

35,739 

(26.605) 
(104,768,117) 

-
-
-

-
-

(104,768,117) $ 

327,285,000 

(30,671,720) 

(3,228,516) 

744.959 
294,129,723 

10,882,641 
35,371.990 
46,254.631 

1,122.297 
1,122,297 

341,506,651 $ 

10,710,000 

-

-

-
10,710,000 

-
. 
. 

-

10,710,000 
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(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31,2010 and 2009 

Debt service requirements to maturity for all outstandmg bonds are as follows: 

Interest 
Bonds Payable: 

December 31: 
2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 
2016-2020 
2021-2025 
2026-2030 
2031-2035 
2036-2040 
2041 

20,203,186 
19,462,503 
18,936,196 
18,363,190 
17,722,633 
77,297,644 
53,693,504 
40,101,916 
26,763,938 
9,684,826 

Principal Total 

10,450,000 $ 
10,895,000 
11,395,000 
11,950,000 
14,210,000 
82,140,000 
70,445,000 
40,305,000 
53,170,000 
61,220,000 
4,035,000 

30,653,186 
30,357,503 
30,331,196 
30,313,190 
31,932,633 

159,437,644 
124,138,504 
80,406,916 
79,933,938 
70,904,826 
4,035,000 

$ 302,229,536 $ 370,215,000 $ 672,444,536 

Debt service requirements to maturity for all outstanding loans payable are as follows: 

Interest Principal Total 
Notes Payable: 

December 31: 
2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 
2016-2020 
2021-2025 
2026 

Bonds Payable 

1,641,260 
1,563,116 
1,481,346 
1,395,782 
5,549,867 
2,730,162 

147,456 

14,508,989 $ 

1,684,138 
1,762,282 
1,844,052 
1,929,616 

11,077,129 
13,896,831 
3,177,942 

35,371,990 $ 

3,325,398 
3,325,398 
3,325,398 
3,325,398 

16,626,996 
16,626,993 
3,325,398 

49,880,979 

On May 26, 2010 New Orleans Aviation Board issued the $52,355,000 New Orleans Aviation Board Gulf 
Opportunity Zone Revenue Bonds (Passenger Facility Charge Projects) Series 2010A (Non-AMT) (the 
"Series 2010A Bonds") and the $1,285,000 New Orleans Aviation Board Revenue Bonds (Passenger 
Facility Charge Projects) Series 2010B (Non-AMT) (the "Series 2010B Bonds" and collectively with the 
Series 2010A Bonds the "Series 2010 Bonds"). The Series 2010 Bonds were issued to provide permanent 
financing for the allowable costs of a) interior and exterior improvements to certain of the existing 
terminals of the Airport, b) the expansion of concourse D including improvements to the west terminal 
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ticket counters and the baggage claim and baggage make-up areas, and c) an in-line checked baggage 
mspection system for the Airport or to the extent any thereof are not commenced any substitute capital 
improvement project for the Airport presently approved or approved in the future by the FAA for PFC 
secured bond financing (the "2009 PFC Projects"). The proceeds of the Series 2010A Bonds will be used 
to pay the allowable costs of the 2009 PFC Projects which can be financed with GO Zone Bonds and were 
not previously financed with proceeds of the Series 2009 Drawdown Bond. The proceeds of the Series 
201 OB Bonds were used to pay the outstanding balance of the disbursements made pursuant to the Series 
2009 Drawdown Bond. In addition, the Series 2010 Bonds were issued in order to provide the amounts 
required to pay all or any portion of (i) the costs of issuance of all the Series 2010 Bonds, (ii) the costs of 
related credit enhancement devices for the Series 2010 Bonds, and (iii) provide the Debt Service Reserve 
Fund Requirement for the Series 2010 Bonds, or the costs of a reserve asset to serve as all or any portion of 
the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement for the Series 2010 Bonds. 

On December 17, 2009, the New Orleans Aviation Board issued Not Exceeding $65,000,00 New Orleans 
Aviation Board Interim Revenue Notes (Passenger Facility Charge Projects) Series 2009A Drawdown 
Bond Facility and Credit Facility provided by IBERIABANK and Capital One, N.A., dated as of 
December 1, 2009 (the "2009 Drawdown Bond"). The 2009 Drawdown Bond is to provide for the 
borrowing of money to provide interim or permanent financing for acquisition and construction of certain 
capital projects pursuant to an mterim revolving credit facility in the initial maximum amount of not 
exceediug $45,000,000 to be provided by IBERIABANK and Capital One, N.A. The proceeds of the 
Series 2010B Bonds were used to pay the outstanding balance of $1,135,910. 

On December 9, 2009, the New Orleans Aviation Board issued the $96,515,000 New Orleans Aviation 
Board Gulf Opportunity Zone CFC Revenue Bonds, Series 2009 A (Non-AMT) (the "2009 CFC Revenue 
Bonds) to (i) provide amounts to reimburse the Aviation Board for previously expended costs or paying 
costs of planning, designing, equipping, and constructing a consolidated rental car facility consisting of a 
multi-story customer service building which includes customer service areas, rental car company 
administrative areas, ready/return car parking areas and multiple separate service areas for the storage, 
refueling, and cleaning of motor vehicles, certain related improvements and certain other improvements to 
be included in the same construction contract. Including all immovable equipment, fiimishings, fixtures 
and facilities incidental or necessary therewith, (ii) pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2009 bonds, and 
(iii) provide a debt service reserve fiind for the 2009 CFC Revenue Bonds. 

On February 4, 2009, the New Orleans Aviation Board issued the New Orleans Aviation Board Revenue 
Refunding Bonds (the "2009 Restructuring GARBS"), $73,960,000 Series 2009A-1 (Non-AMT), 
$23,055,000 Series 2009A-2 Bonds (Non-AMT), $27,140,000 Series 2009B (Taxable), and the 
$20,200,000 Series 2009C (Taxable) for the purpose of refunding all of the remaining outstanding New 
Orleans Aviation Board revenue refunding bonds and New Orleans Aviation Board revenue bonds (the 
"refunded bonds") and paying the termmation fees due as a result of the termination of all of the interest 
rate swap agreements previously entered by the Aviation Board relating to the refunded bonds (tiie "prior 
swaps"). The proceeds ($144,355,000) of the 2009 Restructuring GARBS together with certain other 
amounts were used to (i) refund and defease the refunded bonds, (ii) pay the termination fees due with 
respect to the prior swaps, (iii) pay the costs of issuance of the 2009 Restructuring Refunding Bonds, (iv) 
pay the premium due for the policy of bond insurance, and (v) provide a debt service reserve fund for the 
2009 Restructuring GARBS. 
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Interest Rate Swaps 

The Airport had entered into four interest rate swap agreements to reduce the impact of changes in interest 
rates on its Series 1993B, 1993C, 1995A, and 1997A Variable-Rate Refunding Bonds (see note 5). At 
December 31, 2008, $102,030,000 in outstanding bonds was recorded as a liability in the financial 
statements related to these series. AU of the swap agreements were terminated as a result of the 2009 
Restructuring GARBS, and $19,628,924 was recorded-as a loss on advance refunding related to this 
termination. 

Loans Payable 

'ITie Board was authorized to receive up to a maximum of $28,000,000 from the FEMA Community 
Disaster Loan (CDL) Program. On June 15, 2006, the Airport received an $8,112,103 CDL fixjm FEMA 
with an interest rate of 2.93% for a period of 60 months. On August 25, 2006, the Airport received a 
$2,187,816 CDL from FEMA with an interest rate of 3.06% for a period of 60 months. On October 4, 
2006, the Airport received a $582,722 CDL from FEMA with an interest rate of 2.93% for a period of 
60 months. On August 20, 2010, the Airport submitted to FEMA an application for loan cancellation, 
documenting the requirements for cancellation of the FEMA CDL Loan. On November 5, 2010, the 
Airport received authority fi-om FEMA to cancel all the FEMA CDL Loans in the amount of $10,882,641, 
plus accrued interest of $1,122,297. The Airport recorded a gain on extinguishment of debt in the amount 
of $12,004,938 on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets for the year ended 
December31,20l0. 

In addition, the Board received approval for participation in the Gulf Tax Credit Bonds Program (Go Zone 
Tax Credit Bonds) sponsored by the State of Louisiana in an amount not exceeding $36,000,000. The 
Airport was approved for $35,371,990 for an interest free period of 60 months. On August 1, 2006, 
Hancock Bank as escrow trustee for the State of Louisiana widi respect to its GO Zone Tax Credit Bonds 
Program transferred to the Trustee the amount of $10,242,550 to be used to pay the August 2, 2006 debt 
service on the bonds and related interest rate swap payments. Hancock Bank transferred an additional 
$25,129,440 in debt service between August 2006 and July 2008 which brought the loan to the approval 
amount of $35,371,990 as of December 31, 2010. The Trustee continues to be responsible for making all 
debt service payments on the bonds. 

Deferred Amount on Refunding of Bonds 

The proceeds of the 2009 Restructuring GARBS in the amount of $143,472,534 ($143,355,000 principal 
less discount of $882,466), along with $10,913,599 of available Airport fimds were used to refiind 
$113,300,000 of outstanding Series 1993B Bonds ($73,125,000), Series 1993C Bonds ($1,015,000), Series 
1995A Bonds ($11,390,000), Series 1997A Bonds ($16,500,000), and Series 1997B Bonds ($11,300,000) 
and pay estimated interest and redemption fees of $2,161,571. In addition to refimding the bonds, 
$14,435,5000 was deposited to the 2009 Debt Service Reserve Fund, $19,628,924 for certain swap or 
hedge termination fees and $4,830,138 for costs of issuance, bond insurance premium^ and underwriter 
discount. 

The 2009 Restructuring GARBS resulted in a loss of $31.9 million between the reacquisition price and the 
net carrying amount of the old debt and swap termination payment, and the loss is reported in the 
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accompanying financial statements as a deduction fi-om bonds payable. The deferred loss will be chained to 
operations over the life of the 2009 Restructuring GARBS using the effective-interest method. 

The Airport initiated the refunding to mitigate interest rate risk associated with the refunded bonds and 
related swap, as a result of the bond insurer rating downgrade and other related market events. The 
refunded bonds were defeased on February 4, 2009. The liability was removed and is no longer reflected 
on the Airport's financial statements at December 31, 2009. 

(6) Capital Contribntions and Transfers 

Capital contributions recorded by the Airport represent amounts received from the federal government to 
finance the cost of construction of airport facilities. 

During the year ended December31, 2010, the FAA contributed $10,308,621 and the Transportation 
Security Administration contributed $427,467. Dining the year ended December 31, 2009, the FAA 
contributed $5,327,726, Transportation Security Administration contributed $843,387, and FEMA 
contributed S2,688. 

(7) Pension Plan 

Employees and officers of the Airport are eligible for membership in the Employees' Retirement System of 
the City of New Oleans (the Plan), a defined benefit cond-ibutory retirement plan; A separate financial 
report on the plan for the year ended December 31, 2009 containing additional information required under 
GASB Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental Employers, is 
available fi-om the City of New Orleans Du-ector of Finance, 1300 Perdido Street, Room IE12, New 
Orleans, Louisiana 70112. (504) 658-1850. 

The Airport's annual contribution to the Employees' Retirement System is based on the amount 
determined by the actuary of the Plan, which includes amortization of past service costs over a period of 
30 years. The Auport's contribution to the Plan for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 was 
$1,154,321 and $807,594, respectively. 

(S) Rentals under Operating Leases 

Tlie Airport leases space in its terminal to various airlines, concessionaires, and others. These leases are for 
varying periods ranging from one to ten years and require the payment of minimum armual rentals. On 
January 1, 2009, a new Airline Lease and Use Agreement went into effect witli all Signatory airlines 
paying signatory airlines rates and charges in accordance with the new lease agreement. 

The Airport parking garage facility (the "Facility") was constructed on land leased by a 501(c)3 nonprofit 
corporation (the Corporation) fi-om the Airport purstiant to a parking garage ground lease (the "ground 
lease") dated January 1, 2001. The commencement date as defined in the ground lease went into effect 
January 1, 2002, and the ground rental term began. In accordance with the ground lease, the Corporation is 
required to design, finance, construct, and operate the Facility. The Facility is being financed by the 
Corporation with $44.3 million of tax-exempt bonds. The bonds are not an obligation of the Airport. The 
initial term of the ground lease is ten years with three renewal periods of ten years at the option of the 
Corporation. During the term of the ground lease, the Corporation will pay the Airport $10,624 a month 
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plus percentage rent of 6% of gross revenues generated from the Facility in excess of $7.0 million per year 
plus net cash flow rent, as defined in the ground lease. 

The payment of rent is subject to a minunum annual guarantee payment, as defined in the ground lease. 
The fixed rent shall mcrease by 3% per annum, effective on the first day of each lease year during the term. 
The 2010 monthly ground rent was $13,458. 

The following is a schedule by year of aggregate future minimum rentals receivable on noncancelable 
operating leases as of December 31, 2010: 

2011 $ 5,265,109 
2012 5,055,244 
2013 4,517,659 
2014 2,262,659 
2015 L932;659 
2016-2022 6,651,439 

$ 25,684,769 

These amounts do not include contingent rentals which may be received under most of the leases; such 
contingent rentals, including month-to-month concession agreements, amounted to $5,467,959 m 2010 and 
$10,155,171 in 2009. 

(9) Commitments and Contingencies 

(a) Self-Insurance 

The Airport is insm-ed for hospitalization and unemployment losses and claims under the City of 
New Orieans' self-insurance program. The Airport pays premiums to the City of New Orleans' 
unemployment self-insurance program, and the Airport and its employees pay premiums to the City 
of New Orleans' hospitalization self-insurance program. 

(b) Commitments 

In the normal course of business, the Airport enters into various commitments and contingent 
liabilities, such as construction contacts and service agreements, which are not reflected in the 
accompanying financial statements. 

(c) Claims and Judgments 

There are several pending lawsuits in which the Airport is involved. Based upon management's 
review and evaluation of such lawsuits and the advice of legal counsel, the Airport believes that the 
potential claims resulting fi-om such litigation and not covered by insurance would not materially 
affect the financial statements. 
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(t^ Federal Financial Assistance 

The Airport participates In a number of federal financial ^sistance programs. Although the grant 
programs have been audited through December 31, 2010 in accordance with the Single Audit Act of 
1996, these programs are still subject to financial and compliance audits by governmental agencies. 

(10) Subsequent Events 

Management has evaluated subsequent events through the date that the financial statements were available 
to be issued, Jime 24,2011, and determined that there were no subsequent events requiring disclosure. 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATlOiNAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City of New Orleans) 

Supplemental Schedule of Investments 

Year ended December 31,2010 

Schedule 1 

Descripriop 

Unrestricted investments: 
Special receipts: 

Dreyfiis Treasxuy Prime 
Cash Management 

The Bank of New York Mellon 
JPM U.S. Treasury Plus 

Investments 
The Bank of New York Melkm 

Year 
acquired 

Maturity 
date 

2008 

2009 

N/A 

N/A 

Par value 

406^253 $ 

1,355^27 

Fair value 

406,253 

1.355^7 

PFC reimbursement: 
Dreyftis Treasury Prime 

Cash Management 
The Bank of New York Mellon 

Stock: Airline Bankruptcies 

Cit>' of New Orleans; 
LAMP 

Total unrestricted investments 

2008 

2007 

2003 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

1.761,480 

2,173,616 

591,494 

79,629,574 

84,156,164 

1,761,480 

2,173,616 

591,494 

79,629.574 

84,156,164 

Restricted investments: 
City of New Orleans: 

LAMP 2009 N/A 3,723,466 3.723,466 

CIF-Parking Facility Loan: 
JPM U.S. Treasury Plus 

Investments 
The Bank of New York McUon 

Debt service fund: 
Dreyfus Treasury Prime 

Cash Management 
The Bank of New York Mellon 

JPM U.S. Treasury Plus 
Investments 

The Bank of New York Mellon 

Debt service reserve fund: 
Dreyfus Treasury Prime 

Cash Manâ gement 
The Bank of New York Mellon 

JPM U.S. Treasury Plus 
Investments 

The Bank ofNew York Mellon 

2010 

2008 

2009 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

2009 

2009 

N/A 

N/A 

1,309,208 

9,449,264 

18,687,373 

1.309,208 

9,449,264 

12,586,703 12,586.703 

_22,Q35,967 22,035.967 

18,687.373 

,14,435,749 14,435,749 

33,123,122 33.123,122 
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Schedule 1 

Description 

Ineligible Sub-Account 
Dreyfus Treasury Prime 

Cash Management 
The Bank of New Yori: Mellon 

Year 
acquired 

Maturity 
date 

2009 N/A 

Par value 

5,836.369 

Fair value 

5.836,369 

Operations and maintenance 
Reserve fund: 

JPM U.S. Treasury Plus 
Investments 

The Bank of New York Mellon 2009 N/A i,373.167 8,373,167 

Receipts fund: 
Dreyfus Treasury Prime 

Cash Mai^gement 
The Bank of New York Mellon 2009 N/A 761,798 761,798 

CFC Restricted: 
Dreyfus Treasury Prime 

Cash Management 
The Bank of New York Mellon 2010 N/A 1,952,515 1,952,515 

Time Reimbursement 
Dreyfiis Treasury Prime 

Cash Management 
The Bank of New York Mellon 

Time Reimbursement 
Drej'ius Treasury Pr'aat 

Cash Management 
The Bank of New York Mellon 

PFC Restricted 
Dreyfus Treasury Prime 

Cash Management 
The Bank of New York Mellon 

Total restricted investments 
Total 

2009 

2009 

2009 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

2,646.767 2,646,767 

124,069,895 124,069,895 

26,204.834 26,204,834 

224.200J39 _ 224,200,739 
314.193.272 $ 314,193,272 
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Schedule 3 
LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

(A Component Unit of the City'of New Orleans) 

Supplemental Schedule of Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratio as Required under 
the General Revenue Bond Trust Indenture Dated February 1,2009 

Year ended December 31, 2010 

(Unaudited) 

Revenues: 
Airline rentals and landing fees $ 41,581,388 
Other operating revenues 23,724,183 
Nonoperating revenues 126,029 
Rollover coverage 3,719.573 

Total revenues 69,151,173 

Less reserve requirements: 

Operation and maintenance reserve fiind requirement 
Operation and maintenance expenses 

Net revenues 

Debt service fiind requirement: 
Principal payments 
Interest expense 

Total debt service fund requirement 

Historical debt service coverage ratio 

See accompanying independent auditors' report. 

(1) Basis of Accounting 

$_ 

S 

$_ 

46,838,762 

22,312,411 

7,815,000 
7,063,290 

14,878,290 

1.50 

The accompanying supplemental schedule has been prepared in accordance with the General Revenue Bond 
Trust Indenture dated February 1, 2009. The supplemental schedule excludes certain revenues and expenses 
as defined in the trust indenture. 

(2) Rollover Coverage 

The Board approved the Rollover Coverage Resolution on November 6, 
apply $3,719,573 of rollover coverage for the December 31, 2010 debt 
The operating funds were transferred to the NOAB Rollover Coverage 
Orleans on December 3, 2009. 
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Report on Infernal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based 
on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

New Orleans Aviation Board and the 
City Council of the City of New Orleans, Louisiana: 

We have audited the financial statements of Louis Armstrong New Orleans International Airport (the 
Airport) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2010, and have issued our report thereon dated June 
24, 2011, We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Airport's intemal control over financial reporting 
as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial 
statements but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Airport's intemal 
control over fmancial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Airport's internal control over financial reporting. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination 
of deficiencies, in intemal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. 

Our consideration of the internal control over fmancial reporting was for the limited purpose described in 
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in intemal control that 
might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in intemal control over fmancial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses, as 
defmed above. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Airport's fmanciaf statements are free 
of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we 
do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or 
other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the New Orleans Aviation Board, City 
Coimcil of the City of New Orleans, Louisiana, the Airport's management, the Legislative Auditor 
of Louisiana, and federal awarding agencies and pass-througjti entities and is not intended to be and 
should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. However, under Louisiana 
Revised Statute 24:513, this report is distributed by the Legislative Auditor as a public docimient. 

Metairie, Louisiana 
June 24, 2011 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year ended December 31,2010 

None. 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

Summary Schedule of Prior Year Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year ended December 31,2010 

None. 
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Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance with 
Requirements Applicable to the Passenger Facility Charge 
Program, on Internal Control over Compliance, and on the 

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges 

New Orleans Aviation Board and the 
City Council of the City of New Orleans, Louisiana: 

Compliance 

We have audited the compliance of Louis Armstrong Intemational Airport (the Airport), a component 
unit of the City of New Orleans, with the compliance requirements described in the Passenger Facility 
Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies (the Guide), issued by the Federal Aviation Administration, for 
its passenger facility charge program for the year ended December 31, 2010. Compliance with the 
requirements of laws and regulations applicable to its passenger facility charge program is the 
responsibility of the Airport's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Airport's 
compliance based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the standards applicable to fmancial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the Guide. Those standards and 
the Guide require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and 
material effect on the passenger facility charge program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence about the Aiqjort's compliance with those requirements and performing such other 
procedures, as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Airport's 
compliance with those requirements. 

In our opinion, the Airport complied, m all material respects, with the requirements referred to above that 
are apphcable to its passenger facility charge program for the year December 31,2010. 

Intemal Control over Compliance 

The management of the Airport is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control 
over compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to the 
passenger facility charge program. In planning and performmg our audit, we considered the Airport's 
internal control over compliance with requirements that could have a direct and material effect on the 
passenger facility charge program in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of 
expressing our opinion on compHance and lo test and report on internal control over compliance in 
accordance with the Guide, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Airport's intemal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Airport's intemal control over compliance. 
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A deficiency in intemal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, m the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct noncompliance with the Guide on a timely basis. A material 
weakness in intemal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in intemal 
control over compliance such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with the 
compliance of the Guide will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. 

Our consideration of intemal control over comphance was for the limited purpose describes in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies m internal control over 
compliance that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses. We did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, 
as defined above. 

Schedule of Revenues tmd Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges 

We have audited the basic financial statements of the Airport as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2010 and have issued our report thereon dated June 24, 2011, which contained unqualified opinions on 
those financial statements. Our audits were performed for the purpose of forming an opmion on the basic 
financial statements taken as a whole. The accompanying schedule of revenues and expenditures of 
passenger facility charges is presented for the purposes of additional analysis as specified in the Guide 
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the fmancial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance vnth auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of Americain our opinion, the 
infonnation is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic fmancial statements taken as a 
whole. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the New Orleans Aviation Board, the 
Airport's management, the City Council of the City of New Orleans, Louisiana, the Louisiana Legislative 
Auditor, federal awarding agencies, pass-through entities, and the Federal Aviation Administration, and is 
not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. However, under 
Louisiana Revised Statute 24:513, this report is distributed by the Legislative Auditor as a public 
document. 

^ / m m t ^ ^ ' ~^0m 
Metairie, Louisiana 
June 24, 2011 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

Note to Schedule of Revenues and Expendimres of Passenger Facility Charges 

Year ended December 31,2010 

(1) Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures of Passenger Facility Chat^es 

The accompanying Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures of Passenger Facility 
Charges (PFC) presents the revenues received fi-om the PFC's and expenditures incurred 
on approval projects. The Schedule has been prepared on the cash basis of accounting 
under which revenues are recognized when received and expenses are recognized when 
paid. 

PFC's collected represent cash collected through the end of the month subsequent to the 
quarter-end as reported to the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) in accordance with 
14 CFR Part 158. The interest earned represents the actual interest collected and accrued 
on the unexpended PFC's during the periods reported. 

The approved collection level for the 10 projects denoted by (1) was increased by the 
FAA from $3.00 per enplaned passenger to $4.50 per enplaned passenger, effective April 
1, 2002 upon the Airport's submission of Application 02-05 in order to amend the 
collection level for projects within the PFC program. The collection level for the projects 
within AppHcation 02-05 remained at $3.00 per enplaned passenger. 

The approved collection level for the 9 projects denoted by (2) was increased by Ihe FAA 
to $4.50 enplaned passenger, effective April 1, 2002, upon the Airport's submission of 
Application 02-06. The collection level for the other projects was approved by the FAA 
at $3.00 per enplaned passenger, effecfive April I, 2002. 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year ended December 31,2010 

None. 
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LOUIS ARMSTRONG NEW ORLEANS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

Schedule of Prior Year Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year ended December 31,2010 

None. 
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To the City of New Orleans Aviation Board 
lx)uis Armstrong Intemational Airport 
New Orleans, Louisiana 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the New Orleans Aviation Board 
(NOAB) as of December 31, 2010, we considered the NOAB's intemal control in order to determine our 
auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and 
not to provide assurance on intemal control. Accordmgly, we do not e^qjress an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the NOAB's internal control. 

However, during our audit, we became aware of several matters that are opportunities for strengthening 
intemal controls and operating efficiency. We previously reported on the NOAB's internal control in our 
reported dated June 24, 2011. This letter does not affect our report dated June 24, 20 U on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Organization. 

We will review the status of these comments during our next audit engagement We have already 
discussed these comments and suggestions with the NOAB personnel and we will be pleased to discuss 
these comments in fiirther detail at your convenience to perform any additional study of these matters, or 
to assist you in implementing the recommendations. 

Our comments are summarized m Appendix A which also contains management's responses to the 
current year comments. 

We wish to thank the Airport Financial Manager and her department for then: support and assistance 
during our audit 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board, management, and others within 
the NOAB. 

Metairie, Louisiana 
November 30, 2011 
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Appendix A 

CURRENT YEAR COMMENTS AND MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSE 

Payroll 

Ther« is no policy regarding review of overtime and variable work schedules. In addition, some 
departments use a manual system to record time worked. Management should consider estabhshing a 
preventive control requiring a formal overtime policy and time recordation system, as well as a 
docimientation system requiring sign offs and review of overtime. 

Management's Response 

In May 2010, the Aviation Board retained new management at the Airport At that time, the issue that 
took precedence over all other maters was to access the potential privatization of the Airport. While this 
strategic issue was resolved m October 2010, it took attention avray fiom other governance activities. 
Once the Board decided not to privatize the Airport, new management redirected its attention to internal 
policy matters. In September 2010, a road map for a path forward was established by new management in 
a IOO day report and published on the Airport's website. This report included management's 
recommendations on matters regarding automated time recording and additional mtemal controls. 

During 2010, the Aviation Board operated a manual payroll system under City of New Orleans policy 
memorandums and Civil Service Commission rules. To strengthen its intemal controls, new management 
initiated the search and selection of an automated time recording system and issued the attached 
supplemental procedural memoranduTOb which became effective in September 2010. Subsequentiy, 
management has hnplemented an automated time recording system with formal overtime review and 
sign-off procedures. 

Travel and Entertainment and Credit Cards 

There is no formal policy regarding travel and entertainment and credit card transactions. In addition, 
significant travel expenses by several employees were incurred without adequate documentation relating 
to the parties or purpose. Management should consider establishing a preventative control with a formal 
travel and entertaimnent and credit card poUcy requiring forms to be filled out by the persoimel usmg the 
credit card documenting the fimction, personnel mvolved, and GL coding, with support provided and 
reviewed by anotiier management level individual. 

Management's Response 

In May 2010, the Aviation Board retained new management at the Airport At that time, the issue that 
took precedence over all other maters was to access the potential privatization of the Airport While this 
strategic issue was resolved in October 2010, it took attention away from other governance activities. 
Once the Board decided not to privatize the Airport, new management redirected its attention to intemal 
policy matters. In September 2010, a road map for a path forward was established by management in a 
100 day report and published on the Airport's website. This report included management's 
recommendations on matters regarding additional intemal controls. During 2010, new management 
reviewed the Board's policies and procediu^s concurrent with City-wide policy review initiatives and 
established the attached new poUcies and procedures for travel, business expenses and credit card use, 
which became effective in January 2011. 
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